## SUPREME COURT COPY

## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S186661

v.

SETH CRAVENS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D054613 REME COURT San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD206917 FILED

The Honorable John S. Einhorn, Judge

JAN 21 2011

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS Frederick K. Onlrigh Clark

Deputy

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
GARY W. SCHONS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
JEFFREY J. KOCH
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 97657
110 West A Street, Suite 1100

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following issue:

Did the appellate court abuse its limited authority to review for sufficiency of the evidence where it found "no evidence" to support the jury's implied malice murder verdict and then fashioned an "expanded" version of voluntary manslaughter to affix liability?

#### INTRODUCTION

This case involves one of the most common issues regularly presented to appellate courts: Whether there was sufficient evidence to sustain a jury's verdict. In this case, the Court of Appeal ignored long-established principles of and limitations on appellate review, overruled a jury's determination, reweighed the evidence, and found insufficient evidence of second degree murder, based on implied malice, and then "expanded" the established law of voluntary manslaughter to form a wholly new doctrine for its application. Despite its apparent disquiet with the jury's verdict, because there was both evidentiary and legal support for it, the Court of Appeal should have deferred to the jury's determination that Cravens acted with conscious disregard of the danger of human life and sustained the jury's verdict finding Cravens guilty of second-degree murder.

Appellant, Seth Cravens, and his close friends grew up in the San Diego beach suburb of La Jolla. They attended La Jolla High School and played on the football team. Over the years, Cravens and his friends developed a perverse sense of propriety about the La Jolla community. As a consequence, they felt they owned the town and the beaches and could do whatever they wanted with impunity. The 240-pound Cravens was the leader of the group and developed a history of violence. He repeatedly attacked men and women whenever he felt he or his friends had been directed, challenged, disrespected, or insulted. Along with these attacks

came words that indicated Cravens intended to do serious harm to people or even kill them. This was the way Cravens regularly conducted himself. In more than one instance, Cravens delivered powerful sucker punches to the heads of his victims that, given the circumstances, showed his conscious disregard for their lives.

One night in May 2007, at a crowded party in a La Jolla bar where drinks flowed freely, Cravens and his friends got into an altercation with professional surfer Emery Kauanui. Afterwards, Cravens directed his friends to Kauanui's nearby home and called him out. A fight ensued during which several of Cravens's friends attacked Kauanui in the street simultaneously while Cravens watched from the sidewalk. After Kauanui bested his attackers with the timely intervention of his girlfriend, Kauanui approached Cravens and, with his arms at his sides, berated him for coming to his house to challenge him. Without warning, Cravens suddenly learned forward over the sidewalk curb and hit Kauanui in the head with all his might. The sucker punch instantly knocked Kauanui unconscious. Kauanui fell straight back, dropped to the concrete curb, and smashed in the back of his head making an audible crack. As he lay on the street and blood poured out of his head, a couple of Cravens's friends walked up to him and kicked him in the side to see if he was alive. Cravens and his friends then jumped back in an SUV and fled the scene before the police arrived seconds later. Kauanui was rushed to a hospital and looked initially like he might recover. The next day, Cravens laughed about Kauanui's situation and boasted that he had knocked him out with one punch and put him to sleep. Days later, Kauanui's condition worsened and he died from his head injury.

After being instructed on the general principles of homicide and murder with malice aforethought, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter, the jury found Cravens guilty of the second-degree impliedmalice murder of Kauanui and several other crimes. On appeal, Cravens contended the evidence was insufficient to sustain the second-degree murder conviction. He also argued, on the basis of *People v. Garcia* (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 18, that the trial court erred by not, sua sponte, instructing the jury that an unintentional killing, without malice, during the course of an inherently dangerous assaultive felony, constituted voluntary manslaughter. Although noting well-settled principles of appellate review, and purporting to apply this Court's decision in *People v. Knoller* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 139, the Court of Appeal ignored them and held the facts of the case supported only voluntary manslaughter.

The Court of Appeal's decision should be called out for what it was — an improper review of the jury's factual determination and verdict. The People respectfully ask this Court to reverse the decision and conclude correctly that the evidence in this case fully justified the jury's verdict. The People also ask this Court to reemphasize the proper role for a reviewing court when considering a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a jury's verdict.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Emery Kauanui, Cravens, Hank Hendricks, Eric House, Orlando Osuna, and Matt Yanke, grew up together in La Jolla and frequented Windansea beach. (9 RT 701.) Cravens and Hendricks, House, Osuna, and Yanke were close, had known each other for a long time, had attended La Jolla High School, and played on the football team together. Although they knew Kauanui, they were not friends with him because he was older, and had not attended La Jolla High School. (9 RT 700-701.) Cravens, Hendricks, House, Osuna, and Yanke were part of a larger group of close friends, which also included Erik Wright, Nino Nunziante, Reed Decker, and Thomas House. (9 RT 822.)

#### A. Prior Incidents

For several years, Cravens and his friends regularly attacked various people in La Jolla. Because an important aspect of the proof supporting the jury's verdict of second-degree implied-malice murder in the death of Kauanui was Cravens's subjective knowledge that his habit of suddenly attacking people endangered their lives, the prior incidents must be recounted. The facts of those incidents are recounted in chronological order, culminating with the Kauanui's murder.

1. On July 8, 2005, Cravens and five or six other men were involved in a mob attack at the home of Eric Sorensen on Forward Street in La Jolla. The men "were pretty agitated" over an early incident. (9 RT 904, 907, 969.) Cravens's friend Eric Wright led the group. (10 RT 904, 907.) They wore hooded sweatshirts and one of them had a bat. (9 RT 769.) The men starting banging on the walls of Sorensen's house, hit the front door with a bat, and knocked over Sorensen's motorcycle, which was parked in front of his home. They screamed words to the effect of "we're going to get you." (9 RT 769.)

Suddenly, Wright and his friends charged Sorensen's house. Sorensen tried to close the metal screen front door and almost had it closed but Wright grabbed it out of his hand and pulled it open. He tried to grab Sorensen as he slammed the front wooden door. Sorensen was not able to close the door all the way so he could lock it; he had to hold it closed with his foot. (10 RT 905.) The men continued to bang on the house, kick things over, and yell that they were going to kill Sorensen. (10 RT 907.) Sorensen heard Wright say that "they were going to fucking kill me." (10 RT 907-908.) Sorensen armed himself with a pistol to use as a last resort and yelled through the door that he was calling the police. He felt his life was threatened as well as the lives of the women who were with him. (10

RT 909.) The police responded within two minutes and later took Sorensen's statement. (10 RT 905.)

After this incident, Sorensen had three weeks left in San Diego to complete his flight training. For most of that time, Sorensen worried that "these people who lived two blocks up the street are going to come bash our house in and kill us." (10 RT 910.) About two weeks after the incident, Sorensen saw Wright coming down the street in his pickup truck with Cravens as a passenger. (10 RT 913.)

2. At the beginning of August 2006, August Essner, Chris Jarrett, and Jarrett's girlfriend, Shannon O'Neill, went to Windansea beach in La Jolla "just to enjoy the beach." (10 RT 943, 945.) They went to the south end of the beach in an area locals called the Pink Wall. (11 RT 1057.) They brought towels, a cooler, and backpacks. (10 RT 944; 11 RT 1036, 1058.) Essner brought his skimboard and he and Jarrett took turns skimboarding on the shoreline. O'Neill just lounged on the beach. It was not too crowded but there was a good amount of people and it was very nice. (10 RT 944, 946; 11 RT 1036.)

Essner and Jarrett "were just kind of hanging out and minding our own business." (10 RT 947.) Suddenly, two young men came of nowhere near the cliffs and challenged Essner and Jarrett. The men were drinking from beer bottles and asked Essner and Jarrett what they were doing there. They told them they did not like skimboarding and ordered them to get off their beach. "Go home." (10 RT 947; 11 RT 1037.) The men used profanity and Essner and Jarrett wanted to just let it go. They responded, "This isn't your beach. We're not going anywhere." (10 RT 947.) Jarrett told them, "Well, what do you guys want to do about it? Do you guys have a problem with it? What's going on?" (11 RT 1037.)

All of a sudden, the men threw beer bottles at Essner and Jarrett. One of the bottles hit Jarrett on his shoulder, shattered, and cut him up. Jarrett

grabbed one of the men and Essner punched the other one. (10 RT 947; 11 RT 1037, 1049.) As Essner and Jarrett fought the other men, suddenly five to seven men rushed out from a rock outcropping and circled around them. Cravens was in this group. These men were bigger and two of them were bigger than Essner (6' tall, 175 pounds - 11 RT 1033), and Jarrett (6' tall, 160 pounds - 10 RT 948). One of these men threw a beer can at Essner's head. (10 RT 947.) Some of the men attacked Essner while the others attacked Jarrett. (10 RT 947-949; 11 RT 1038.) A couple of the men told Essner and Jarrett, "You ready to die. You ready to get served." (11 RT 1038.) The fighting became really intense. (11 RT 1038.) Essner and Jarrett were trying to fend off eight or nine men in a group attack. (11 RT 1039.)

Cravens squared off against Jarrett "just about every time one of the other people wasn't with me fighting me." (11 RT 1040.) Cravens punched Jarrett and got him in a headlock and rubbed sand in his face. (11 RT 1041.) Jarrett was taken to the ground and people started kicking him. (10 RT 949.) At the same time, someone (Jarrett was not sure if it was Cravens), poured beer on him. Jarrett was on the ground for 30-40 seconds. He could feel feet getting pushed into his back. As his head was on its side, Cravens "stomped him out." (11 RT 1041.) Jarrett's head was stomped so badly that it was pushed down into the sand. Sand got into Jarrett's eyes and then he could not see anything. (11 RT 1041.)

Essner tried to come to Jarrett's aid. He tried pulling the attackers off Jarrett. (10 RT 949-950.) Someone hit Essner in the back of his head. (10 RT 947.) At that point, O'Neill also tried to help Jarrett and may "have slapped someone or tried to rip somebody off." (10 RT 950.) O'Neill was very upset and pleaded with the attackers to get off Jarrett. (11 RT 1061-1062.) One of the attackers turned around and smacked her. (10 RT 950.)

As a result of Essner's and O'Neill's intervention, Jarrett was able to get to his feet and ended up in a one-on-one fight with Cravens. As they fought, O'Neill again tried to come to Jarrett's aid. When she tried to step in, Cravens hit her in the face and she fell to the sand. Jarrett was then able to get away and ran around some rocks on the beach. O'Neill kept on hitting Cravens and slapped him in the face. Cravens called out to his friends and said, "Get this bitch off of me or I'm going to hit her again." (11 RT 1043, 1063.)

In the mean time, people were trying to steal Essner's, Jarrett's, and O'Neill's possessions. They grabbed the cooler and dumped it out. (11 RT 1044, 1063.) They also took Jarrett's backpack. (11 RT 1063.) They took Essner's skimboard and threw it into the ocean. (11 RT 1064.)

As the fight broke up, someone from Cravens's group came up to O'Neill. He had blood coming out of his mouth and he spit the blood on O'Neil. (11 RT 1064.) Thereafter, Cravens got his group together and said, "Guys, let's go. We got to get out of here." (11 RT 1064.) They all started to leave and walked up the hill to the street. (11 RT 1064.) O'Neill found Essner and Jarrett and they gathered their possessions except for Jarrett's backpack which had been stolen. (11 RT 1044, 1064.) They then left the beach too. (11 RT 1064.) O'Neill was concerned about her car that was parked on the street. She thought something might happen to it. She walked after Cravens and his group and yelled at them. She asked, "Why did you guys do this? What was the point of this?" (11 RT 1064.) Cravens responded, "This is my town. This is La Jolla. You guy's don't belong here." (11 RT 1064.)

Essner had some scrapes and bruises after the attack. (11 RT 1065.) O'Neill suffered a bruise to her face as a result of being hit by Cravens. The bruise went from her cheekbone all the way up to her eye. It was all bruised and black and lasted about a week. (11 RT 1065.) Jarrett's lip was

split wide open and he bled a lot from his mouth. He also had lacerations and bruising on his shoulder from the impact of the beer bottle. (11 RT 1045.) Jarrett also had really badly bruised ribs caused by being hit and kicked when he was down on the sand. (11 RT 1045, 1065.) One of his ribs may have suffered a hairline fracture. (11 RT 1048-1049, 1052.) He literally had footprints with little toe prints on his back. (11 RT 1045.) The bruising lasted a few weeks but the pain to his ribs lasted for a couple of months. Jarrett could not do the things he liked doing like playing hockey and surfing because the pain was so bad. (11 RT 1053-1055.)

3. On an evening in October 2006, 17-year-old Elizabeth S. invited a female schoolmate to her house on Genter Street in La Jolla. Elizabeth was a junior at La Jolla High School who was between five foot seven and five foot eight inches tall. (12 RT 1230-1231.) Elizabeth's parents were not home at the time. Elizabeth's schoolmate invited many more people and by 9:30 p.m., about one hundred people were at the house some of whom were uninvited and strangers to her. At that time, Elizabeth was angry because some of the people were starting to misbehave by feeding her dogs beer and the like. She wanted everyone out of her house. (12 RT 1230-1232.)

Elizabeth was able to get everyone out of the living room and out onto the deck but then some people became angry and said they did not want to leave. They began throwing pots off the second story deck onto the sidewalk and cars. (12 RT 1232.) Elizabeth noticed a group of five to ten people, mostly males, who stayed by themselves. She yelled at them that they were not invited and that they needed to get out. They refused. Elizabeth persisted and was successful in getting most of the people out the back gate in her yard but two or three were left, one of whom was Cravens. Elizabeth screamed at these people to get out but they said no and affirmed that they were going to stay there. At that point, Cravens hit her in the

chest and then hit her again with a glancing blow to her chin, which caused a welt. (12 RT 1235.)

A neighbor came to Elizabeth's assistance and confronted Cravens and his friends telling them they were not welcome and that they needed to get out. Cravens and his friends were very hostile and were in the neighbor's face refusing to leave. (12 RT 1236-1237.) Ultimately they left. There was about \$500-\$600 in damage to the house. Later, Elizabeth's father, David Blende, contacted Cravens's father, told him about what had happened, and asked him to avoid Elizabeth in the future. (12 RT 1239-1242.)

4. On December 31, 2006, Lauren Kelly rented a party bus for a New Year's Eve party. (11 RT 1085-1086.) Several people met at Kelly's house, including Justin Parker, and the bus picked them all up. (11 RT 1085.) The bus then made a few stops to pick up other people. (11 RT 1086.) Eventually, 40-60 people were on the bus, evenly split between males and females. (11 RT 1085.) During the course of the evening, Cravens got on the bus as did Matt Yanke, Orlando Osuna, Erik Wright, Nino Nunziante and Emery Kauanui and his brother Nigel Kauanui. (11 RT 1086.) It was Emery Kauanui's birthday. (11 RT 1100.) There was liquor on the bus, most of it in the back. (11 RT 1097.)

Meanwhile, there was a New Years Eve party going on at Romy Segall's parents' house in La Jolla. (11 RT 1108.) The attendees at the party were in their 20s and 30s and were nicely dressed in business-casual attire. (11 RT 1110, 1137.) The party was by invitation only and was for Segall's closest friends. (11 RT 1108-1109, 1170.) People starting leaving the party after midnight and by 12:45 a.m. on January 1, 2007, about 30-40 people were left. (11 RT 1138.)

At this time, Joseph Heinrich, Romy Segall's boyfriend, went outside to the front yard to say goodbye to someone. As he was saying goodbye, he saw Lauren Kelly's big party bus pull up in front of the house. (11 RT 1110.) Heinrich was surprised by the party bus and did not know what was going on. (11 RT 1111.) He saw three guys get off the bus and they were rowdy. Because he did not know them but knew they were not invited to the party, Heinrich immediately went up to them and said, "You guys got to get the fuck out of here because the party's over." (11 RT 1111.) In response, the men acted very aggressively and were obviously looking for a fight. One of the men started to take off his shirt as he came up to Heinrich. (11 RT 1111.) Heinrich backed up and went inside the house. (11 RT 1111.)

Once inside, Heinrich bolted the front door. He could hear the handle of the door being shaken and thuds on the door as people tried to kick it in. (11 RT 1119.) Heinrich contacted Logan Henry in the back yard and told him what was going on. Heinrich wanted assistance in telling the people from the bus that they were not welcome at the party. (11 RT 1138.) Henry then left the back yard, came around the side of the yard, and came into the front yard by the front door. (11 RT 1138-1139.) Henry had a bottle in his hand because he was celebrating New Year's Eve. He encountered a very hostile crowd with lots of cursing. Henry did not have time to tell people to leave or anything as someone slapped the bottle out of his hand and socked him on the side of his face. (11 RT 1139.) Someone knocked Henry's glasses off of his face and he was tossed on top of someone. To defend himself, he immediately started hitting the person he was on top of in the face. That person said, "Get this F'ing person off of me." (11 RT 1140.) Thereafter, Henry received about four strong "pretty abrasive kicks" in his face, one of them landing on the bridge of his nose. (11 RT 1140.) Henry immediately tucked into the fetal position and may have been hit a couple of times in his body and his head. (11 RT 1141.)

At this point, Romy Segall and Henry's girlfriend stepped in and protected Henry. As a consequence, he was able to get up. When he did, Cravens "was in my face and yelled 'I'm going to kill you, you motherfucker" (11 RT 1141; 12 RT 1315-1316.) Henry responded, "Do it, you know. Bring it." (11 RT 1141.)

In the meantime, Heinrich talked to several people inside the house and then five or six men walked outside followed by others including several women. People from the bus attacked them and there was a melee in the front yard. Cravens was fighting. (11 RT 1091.) So was Justin Parker next to him. (11 RT 1091-1092.) So was Orlando Osuna. (11 RT 1092.) Heinrich saw Romy Segall screaming at some guy and the guy appeared to be ready to throw a punch at her. Heinrich physically picked her up and brought her inside. (11 RT 1120.)

Heinrich heard fights and screaming. He heard people being thrown up against that garage door. The fighting stopped when Heinrich said, "I called the police," and others outside said, "The police have been called. The police have been called." (11 RT 1121.) Then people started to scatter and get back on the bus. The bus took off but several people were left behind such as Avi Wasserman, Hank Hendricks, and Matt Yanke. (11 RT 1121.)

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