SUPREME COURT COPY

SUPREME COURT NO. S186661

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

SETH CRAVENS, Defendant and Appellant. Court of Appeal No. D054613

SUPREME COURT

MAR - 9 2011

Superior Court

No. SCD206917 Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY

Honorable John S. Einhorn, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Randall Bookout Attorney at Law State Bar No. 131821

Post Office Box 181050 Coronado, CA 92178 (619) 857-4432

By appointment of the Supreme Court under the Appellate Defenders, Inc., independent case program

			·
			•
			•
			•
			•
			•

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS, INCLUDING DISPUTED FACTUAL CHARACTERIZATIONS IN RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS
Emery Kauanui's Death
Prior Incidents
Count One
Count Five
Count Six
Count Seven
Count Ten
Count Eleven
ARGUMENTS ON REVIEW
I. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY FOUND INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF IMPLIED MALICE
A. People v. Knoller (2007) 41 Cal.4th 139 and Implied Malice 27
B. The Subjective Component of Knoller: Of What Was Seth Cravens Consciously Aware When He Threw a Single Punch at a Professional Athlete With his Non-dominant Hand?
1) What, Exactly, Do the Other Assaults Prove?
2) What, Exactly, Does the Pavement Prove?

3) What, Exactly, Do Appellant's Statements Prove? 35
a) Other Offenses
b) After Appellant Hit Kauanui
C. The Objective Component of <i>Knoller</i> : Is Death a Natural Consequence of Throwing a Single Punch at a Professional Athlete?
II. HAVING FOUND INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A MURDER CONVICTION, THE COURT OF APPEAL WAS WITHIN ITS GENERAL AUTHORITY TO REDUCE THE CONVICTION TO THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER, ALTHOUGH IT ERRED WHEN IT EXPANDED A NON-STATUTORY THEORY OF VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER TO DO SO
A. <u>Introduction</u>
B. Considered in the Abstract, the Court of Appeal Was Within its Statutory Authority to Reduce Appellant's Conviction to a Lesser Included Offense; in Addition, the Court of Appeal Reduced the Offense to One Specifically Charged by the People in the Amended Information 46
C. The Unique Case of Voluntary Manslaughter
D. <u>People v. Garcia</u> (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 18
E. Here, the Court of Appeal Takes Garcia One Step Further
F. "Felony-Manslaughter" Is a Prohibited Non-Statutory Crime Created by Garcia and Adopted by the Court of Appeal in Appellant's Case 59
CONCLUSION
Contification of Word Count

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES PAGE(S)
In re Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358 [90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368]
Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307 [99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560]
People v. Adams (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 680
People v. Aguilar (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1023 56-57
People v. Anderson (2002) 28 Cal.4th 767 50-51, 60-61
People v. Barton (1995) 12 Cal.4th 186
People v. Belton (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 432
People v. Beyea (1974) 38 Cal.App.3d 176
People v. Blakeley (2000) 23 Cal.4th 82
People v. Breverman (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142
People v. Chun (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1172
People v. Cox (2000) 23 Cal.4th 665
People v. Davis (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 806
People v. Efstathiou (1941) Cal. App. 2d 441 30
People v. Garcia (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 18 45, 52-58, 61
People v. Howard (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1129
People v. Knoller (2007) 41 Cal.4th 139 1, 27-29, 31, 38, 49, 54, 56

People v. Lasko (2000) 23 Cal.4th 101
People v. Mears (1956) 142 Cal.App.2d 198
People v. Memory (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 835
People v. Mosher (1969) 1 Cal.3d 379 50-51
People v. Munn (1884) 65 Cal. 211
People v. Navarro (2007) 40 Cal.4th 668
People v. Nieto-Benitez (1992) 4 Cal.4th 91
People v. Ogg (1958) 159 Cal.App.2d 38
People v. Phillips (1966) 64 Cal.2d 574
People v. Rios (2000) 23 Cal.4th 450
People v. Spring (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 1199
People v. Teixeira (1955) 136 Cal.App.2d 136
People v. Thomas (1953) 41 Cal.2d 470
People v. Thomas (1987) 43 Cal.3d 818
People v. Watson (1981) 30 Cal.3d 290
People v. Wells (1996) 12 Cal.4th 979
CONSTITUTIONS
United States Constitution
Fifth Amendment

STATUTES

Penal Code

	section 6
	section 187
	section 188
	section 192 49-50, 56, 60
	section 242
	section 245
	section 422
	section 667 57
	section 1118.1
	section 1181
	section 1192.7
	section 1260
	section 12022.7
отні	ER
	http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/glance/tables/viortrdtab.cfm [as of Jan. 27, 2011]
	http://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=krunk [as of Aug. 26, 2009]

			•
			_
	•		•
			•
			•
			•
			•
			•
			•
·			
			•
			•
			•
			•

SUPREME COURT NO. S186661 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

Court of Appeal No. D054613

VS.

Superior Court No. SCD206917

SETH CRAVENS, Defendant and Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY

Honorable John S. Einhorn, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

INTRODUCTION

In *People v. Knoller* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 139, this court cleared up decades of confusion and established a standard for determining whether a criminal defendant whose conduct resulted in an unintentional death should be convicted and punished the same as if he or she had intentionally murdered someone without premeditation and deliberation. Simply stated, that standard is whether the defendant committed an act whose natural consequences are dangerous to life, and did so consciously aware of and

disregarding the fact someone's death might reasonably follow.

Appellant Seth Cravens threw a single punch at a professional athlete, Emery Kauanui, with his non-dominant hand, causing Kauanui to fall and strike his head on the pavement. Through the expedient of charging appellant with numerous other offenses—none of which had resulted in previous arrest or attempted prosecution, and none of which had resulted in any injury even remotely life-threatening—the People were able by means of smoke and mirrors to obtain a murder conviction for Kauanui's death: Appellant was a serial brawler and a bully, therefore he was guilty of murder. Here, in their opening brief on the merits, the People devote roughly one-half of their factual recital to these other assaults. There is a good reason for this. The People still have no real evidence appellant consciously disregarded a risk to Kauanui's life when he hit him, and reinforcing the perception that appellant is a bad man is the next best thing.

Nowhere does respondent demonstrate the Court of Appeal employed an erroneous legal standard in evaluating the evidence of implied malice. Nowhere does respondent point to any evidence appellant had the slightest inkling Kauanui might die when he threw a single punch at him.

And nowhere does respondent demonstrate the natural consequence of

throwing a single punch at a healthy young male is life-threatening.

Furthermore, and despite respondent's apparent desire to conflate the two, the question whether there is sufficient evidence to sustain appellant's murder conviction is entirely separate from the question whether the Court of Appeal erred in finding appellant liable by expanding an obscure theory of voluntary manslaughter. Considered in the abstract, the Court of Appeal was within its statutory authority to reduce the murder conviction to voluntary manslaughter, though it appears to have erred in expanding a non-statutory theory of voluntary manslaughter when it did so.

7

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS, INCLUDING DISPUTED FACTUAL CHARACTERIZATIONS IN RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Because the question whether there is sufficient evidence of implied malice is a factual inquiry, it is necessary to pay a great deal of attention to those facts. Although the procedural history and facts are fairly stated in the Court of Appeal opinion (Typed opn. D054613 [hereafter, "Opn."], pp. 1-27), extensive comment on the version of the facts contained in respondent's opening brief on the merits [hereafter, ROBM] is necessary.

"Although they [appellant, Hendricks, House, Osuna, and Yanke] knew Kauanui, they were not friends with him because he was older, and had not attended La Jolla High School." (RBOM, p. 3.) The record indicates that while appellant, Hendricks, House, Osuna, and Yanke were closer to one another because they had played football together at La Jolla High, they were friends with Emery Kauanui and his brother Nigel. (9 RT 699, lines 25-28; 9 RT 700, lines 1-10; see especially line 4: "Although they were friends, is it fair to say") Appellant was a passenger with Emery Kauanui, who was celebrating his birthday, on the New Year's Eve party

¹Appellant will not address the alleged "facts" contained in the introduction section (pages 1-3) of respondent's opening brief on the merits, as they are unsupported by record citation and will presumably be considered by this court as argument

bus that figures in count 7. (11 RT 1100.) A surprised Kristin Link called appellant from Los Angeles when she learned he and Kauanui had been in a fight because she thought they were friends. (9 RT 674.) Jennifer Grosso, Kananui's girlfriend, had known appellant since he moved from Hawaii in the fourth grade; she was excited to see appellant when he entered the La Jolla Brew House the night of the incident and "gave him a big hug." (6 RT 227.) Whether appellant and Kauanui were friends rather than acquaintances is a minor but not insignificant point: Not only was there no previous animosity between appellant and Emery Kauanui, but relations between them were entirely amicable until the tragic events of May 23, 2007.

Respondent presents appellant's history of assaults before discussing Kauanui's death as if those prior assaults had some kind of teleological significance, all leading up to May 23.³ They do not. As will be demonstrated below, each incident had either not been reported to

²Matthew Yanke, for example, told an investigator it was evident appellant did not want to hurt Kauanui because he used his left (i.e., non-dominant) hand when he hit him. (13 RT 1559.)

³E.g., "Cravens's numerous other assaults in the preceding years . . . demonstrated that Cravens acted with increasing disregard for the consequences of his devastating blows" (ROBM p. 36); "Cravens's disregard for the consequences of his beatings finally became so cavalier that it clearly indicated a conscious disregard for Kauanui's life" (ROBM p. 37).

authorities or had not resulted in arrest or prosecution,⁴ and each was resurrected for the sole purpose of obtaining a murder conviction following Kauanui's death by showing appellant to be, as the Court of Appeal put it (Opn., p. 33), of "evil disposition or despicable character."

Emery Kauanui's Death

Appellant takes only minor exception to respondent's recitation of the facts up to the confrontation on the street outside Kauanui's house. For example, Dylan Eckardt claimed Kauanui, who was simultaneously yelling at someone else, said to Eckardt on the phone, "Hurry up and get here. Get here. I got beef at my house." (8 RT 624.) It was, however, disputed whether Eckardt told a detective Kauanui said, "I've got beef at my house, and I'm going to kill him." (8 RT 654-655; Supplemental Clerk's Transcript, p. 4.)

If Kauanui did say that, in any event, the "him" would have been Eric House rather than appellant. Kauanui's squabble at the Brew House

⁴It is unknown whether the offense in count 11, which occurred around two weeks before Kauanui's death, would have resulted in arrest and prosecution had Kauanui not died.

⁵The transcription was disputed; see Supplemental Clerk's Transcript, p. 4 (transcript of exhibit no. 65). On several occasions during the preliminary hearing, the court indicated it could clearly hear Eckardt relate that Kauanui said, "I'm going to kill him." (6 PHT 957, 1040, 1042, 1080, 1082, 1085.)

over the spilled beer was with House, following which appellant took
House's side in the argument. According to prosecution witness Jennifer
Grosso, Kauanui's girlfriend who was present in the street, and whose
account the prosecutor enthusiastically vouched for--"Jenny Grosso. Her
testimony is 100 percent corroborated for every aspect of it." (16 RT 1894)
--the only confrontation before the fatal blow was strictly between Kauanui
and House. Kauanui bested House in the fight, knocking out his tooth and
basically leaving him a bloody mess.⁶

For reasons expressed below, under the circumstances it matters little whether anyone other than House laid a hand on Kauanui before appellant hit him, but following respondent's recital of Erica Wortham's testimony (ROBM p. 22), appellant must take serious issue with respondent's portrayal of the prosecution's facts as if they present a coherent narrative, because they do not. Different prosecution witnesses saw distinctly different events. Jennifer Grosso, who was present in the thick of things, and who knew the participants personally, said the initial

⁶Appellant will request the photograph depicting House's condition be transmitted to this court.

⁷"Given the jumble of inconsistent descriptions of the fight, this was not a case where the jury had only to choose between the People's and the defense's version of events" (*People v. Memory* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 835, 863.)

fight was strictly between Kauanui and Eric House, the original disputants at the Brew House. Phillip Baltazar, on the other hand, who was viewing the proceedings from an upstairs balcony across the street in dim lighting (6 RT 341, 343, 362-363; see also 7 RT 380, 486, 493; 8 RT 627; but see 7 RT 379), claimed to have seen a group assault on Kauanui.⁸

According to Baltazar, what he saw outside "looked like a scrum. Scrum is a term in rugby where you got everyone on top of someone. It was like a cat fight. There was four guys beating on someone." (7 RT 381-382.) "[F]our guys were either kicking or punching or elbowing or kneeing." (7 RT 384.) The group ended up at a palm tree, and Kauanui got up. (7 RT 385.) At that point there were two sources of light, the light from Kauanui's house and Jennifer Grosso's headlights. (7 RT 385-386.)

According to Grosso, when she returned to Kauanui's house, the Explorer was present and there "[w]as a commotion, confrontation outside of the house." (6 RT 246.) She turned the corner and her headlights illuminated Kauanui and Eric House in the street; Kauanui was on the ground and House was on top of him. The others were standing a few feet

⁸Of the others present that evening, only Eric House acknowledged so much as touching Kauanui before he fell. See footnote 28, *post*.

⁹Respondent erroneously states Grosso "saw Kauanui on the street with House standing over him." (ROBM p. 22.) The two were grappling in the street.

behind them. (6 RT 248.) Kauanui was attempting to put House in a headlock, and House was straddling Kauanui and punching his stomach. (6 RT 249.) Grosso held her car horn down to wake the neighbors, called 911 but did not remember talking to anyone, and began "screaming and cussing and making a huge scene." (6 RT 250.) Because House did not respond to her, she began kicking House "in his back, in his side, in his head. I started violently kicking him telling him, Get off of him." She kicked House with all of her might, and House "kept saying, Get her the fuck off of me." Someone in the group--she does not know who--said, "What the fuck are you doing? You're crazy, bitch." Then someone, either Yanke or Hendricks, removed her; she knew it was not appellant or Osuna because she could see them and House. (6 RT 251.) She was not violently removed: "I was kind of just picked up and put somewhere else." (6 RT 252.)

Grosso called out the names of those present "so they knew that I was going to tell the cops." (6 RT 253.) She again got no reaction so she began kicking in the headlights of the Explorer and trying to hit the top of

¹⁰At this point, then, House is on top of Kauanui, Grosso is kicking House, and someone else is grabbing Grosso, something that might well look like the "scrum" or group fight Baltazar claimed he saw from his balcony.

the car; no one tried to stop her, and "they were just saying, You're crazy. Like, Let's go." (6 RT 254.) Grosso then saw that Kauanui had gotten up, approached appellant, and was speaking to him from a distance of five or six feet; appellant was standing near the Explorer where he had been the entire time. (6 RT 255-257, 277.) "And [Emery] just said, you know, How the fuck are you going to jump me at my house? And maybe his arms raised a little bit kind of like what happened." (6 RT 256.) Appellant said nothing back: "He walked up to Emery, and he just gave him one extremely hard punch, and Emery just fell back immediately. It was like the lights went out in Emery and he fell back." (6 RT 257.) Appellant hit Kauanui with his left hand. (6 RT 290.) She heard Kauanui's skull crack when it hit the pavement, a pool of blood formed beneath his head, and Grosso thought he was dead. (6 RT 257-258.)

She started "screaming like, you know, Fuck all of you guys. None of you are going to get away with this." She looked at appellant and asked why he had done this to her; he had no reaction other than to tell his friends it was time to go. (6 RT 258.) When Kauanui was on the ground two people--she knows it was neither appellant nor House--kicked him on the side, "kind of a medium kick. . . . Like we won type of a final kick" that "wasn't . . . really aggressive, but it wasn't moving him to see if he was

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